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MOTION FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION

The Division of Enforcement (“Division”), by counsel, pursuant to Comrﬁission Rules of
Practice 154 and 250(b), respectfully moves for summary disposition against Respondents United
Development Funding III, LP (“UDF III”"), United Development Funding IV (“UDF IV”), and
United Development Funding Income Fund V (“UDF IV”) (“Respondents™) on the grounds that
there is no genuine issue with regard to any material fact, and that pursuant to Section 12(j) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), the Division is entitled, as a matter of law, to
an order revoking each class of Respondents’ securities registered with the Commission pursuant
to Section 12 of the Exchange Act.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT

L INTRODUCTION

The Commission instituted this administrative proceeding against Respondents pursuant to
Section 12(j) of the Exchange Act, because Respondents have failed to file any periodic reports
since the third quarter of 2015 in violation of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and rules
thereunder.! Respondents do not dispute that they have failed to file any periodic reports for
approximately three years, or that they are not presently able to become current in their reporting.
Instead, Respondents argue that the Commission should excuse these protracted deficiencies,
alleging that a short seller previously impeded their efforts to obtain audited financial statements
and that they now believe they will be able to bring their reporting current at some undetermined

point in the future. But Respondents’ allegations, even if accepted as true, do not demonstrate a

! Respondents are part of the United Development Funding family of private and publicly-traded investment funds that
deploy investor capital as loans to homebuilders and land developers. As discussed below, the Commission also filed a
settled enforcement action in United States District Court (“District Court™) against Respondents UDF III and UDF IV
and five UDF executives arising from allegations that UDF, among other misconduct, misled investors by failing to
disclose that it could not pay distributions from operations and was instead using money from a newer fund (UDF IV)
to pay distributions to investors in an older fund (UDF III).
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genuine issue of fact that is material to a decision in this proceeding and, in any event, relate to
actions that occurred years ago and cannot credibly explain Respondents’ current and long-running
delinquencies. Settled Commission precedent compels revocation of Respondents’ securities
under these circumstances.

IL STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS?

A. Respondents’ Failure to File Periodic Reports

1. UDF III is a Delaware limited partnership headquartered in Grapevine, Texas
with a class of securities registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the
Exchange Act. (OIP, JII.A.1; Respondents’ Answer, §1.) UDF III has failed to file its periodic
reports with the Commission since it filed a Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30,
2015, almost three-and-a-half-years ago. (OIP, J II.A.1; Respondents’ Answer, §1; List of all
EDGAR filings for UDF III as of March 26, 2019.)?

2. UDF IV is a Maryland real estate investment trust headquartered in Grapevine,
Texas with a class of securities registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the
Exchange Act. (OIP, JII.A.2; Respondents’ Answer, §2.) UDF IV has failed to file its periodic
reports with the Commission since it filed a Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30,
2015, almost three-and-a-half-years ago. (OIP, § II.A.2; Respondents’ Answer, § 2; List of all
EDGAR filings for UDF IV as of March 26, 2019, Bernstein Decl., Ex. 2.)

3. UDF V is a Maryland real estate investment trust headquartered in Grapevine,

Texas with a class of securities registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of

% The Statement of Undisputed Facts is cited below as “SOF ] _.”

3 The list of Edgar filings is Ex. 1 to the Declaration of Keefe Bernstein in Support of this Motion (“Bernstein
Decl.”). The Division requests that pursuant to Rule of Practice 323 [17 C.F.R. § 201.323 ], the Court take official
notice of all EDGAR and District Court filings and information referenced in this submission and/or attached to the
Bernstein Decl., including, but not limited to, Exs. 1-15 and 22-23 to the Bernstein Decl.
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Exchange Act. (OIP, JII.A.3; Respondents’ Answer, §3.) UDF V has failed to file its periodic
reports with the Commission since it filed a Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30,
2015, almost three-and-a-half-years ago. (OIP, 9 II.A.3; Respondents’ Answer, q 3; List of all
EDGAR filings for UDF V as of March 26, 2019, Bemnstein Decl., Ex. 3.)

4. As of the date of this Motion, Respondents have collectively failed to file a total
of 37 required periodic reports: UDF IV having failed to file 13 required periodic reports,
including four Forms 10-K and nine Forms 10-Q; UDF III having failed to file 12 required
periodic reports, including three Forms 10-K and nine Forms 10-Q; and UDF V having failed to
file 12 required periodic reports, including three Forms 10-K and nine Forms 10-Q (OIP,
II.A.1-3; Respondents’ Answer, q{ 1-3; Bemnstein Decl., Exs. 1-3.)4

5. For certain delinquent periods, Respondents filed Form 12b-25 notifications of
their inability to timely file the required reports. (Bernstein Decl., Exs. 1-3.) Respondents
initially claimed that they could not timely file reports due to the resignation of their auditing
firm, Whitley Penn LLP. (See, e.g., Forms 12b-25 filed for the period ended 12/31/2015 (UDF
III and UDF V) and 3/31/2016 (UDF 1V), Bemstein Decl., Exs. 4-6.)° On June 8, 2016,
Respondent UDF 1V filed a Form 8-K announcing that it had retained a new auditing firm,
EisnerAmper LLP. (Respondent UDF IV’s Form 8-K filed 6/8/2016, Bemstein Decl., Ex. 7.)6

Since that time more than two-and-a-half years ago, Respondents have continued to recite in

4 On March 19, 2019, UDF IV filed a notice of its inability to timely file its Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2018. (Bernstein Decl., Ex. 2.) The Division anticipates UDF III and UDF V will also not timely file
Forms 10-K for that period, which would bring the growing total to 39 missed filings, with each Respondent having
failed to file four Forms 10-K and nine Forms 10-Q.

5 The Bemnstein Decl. attaches UDF III’s and UDF Vs Forms 12b-25 for the missed Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2015, and UDF IV’s Form 12b-25 for the missed Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016.
UDF IV does not appear to have filed a Form 12b-25 for the Form 10-K it failed to file for the year ended December
31, 2015.

6 UDF III and UDF V filed similar Forms 8-K on June 30, 2016. (Bernstein Decl., Exs. 8-9.)
In the Matter of United Development Funding III, LP et al. Page 3
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their Forms 12b-25 that EisnerAmper LLP has been engaged but that there can be no assurance
as to when Respondents will be able to file periodic reports. (See, e.g., Forms 12b-25 filed for
the periods ended 6/30/16 (Respondents), 9/30/18 (UDF III and UDV V), and 12/31/18 (UDF
IV), Bernstein Decl., Exs. 10-15.)

B. The Delisting of UDF IV’s Securities

6. Respondents’ securities are not listed on any exchange, and UDF 1V is the only
Respondent whose securities are publicly traded. (OIP, {II.A.1-3; Respondents’ Answer, {{ 1-
3.) UDF IV’s common shares previously traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the
symbol “UDF” beginning on June 4, 2014. (OIP, § II.A.2; Respondents’ Answer, § 2.)
However, on February 18, 2016, Nasdaq halted trading in UDF IV’s shares; the same day the
Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) executed a search warrant at the company’s
headquarters in Grapevine, Texas. (OIP, §II.A.2; Respondents’ Answer, {2, 16.)

7. On May 26, 2016, UDF IV received notice from Nasdaq’s listing qualifications
staff that it would be delisted due to its failure to file periodic reports with the Commission
unless it requested a hearing. (UDF 6/17/2016 Pre-hearing Submission at 1, Bernstein Decl., Ex.
16.) UDF IV subsequently requested a hearing, and on June 17, 2016, made a pre-hearing
submission to a Nasdaq listing qualifications hearing panel stating that its delay in filing periodic
reports was precipitated by its need to find a replacement auditor for Whitley Penn LLP, public
allegations made online by short seller Hayman Capital Management, L.P. (“Hayman”), and the
FBI search warrant. (/d. at 3-5.) UDF IV further stated that its audit committee had substantially
completed an investigation of the Hayman allegations and that it had engaged new auditors—
EisnerAmper LLP—that should enable it to file the delinquent periodic reports well within the
discretionary period available to the hearing panel. (/d. at 7.)
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8. On July 7, 2016, Nasdaq’s listing qualifications panel conducted a hearing.
(Nasdaq Hearing Transcript, Bernstein Decl., Ex. 17.) UDF IV’s stated reasons for the filing
delinquencies—the Hayman allegatons, the FBI search warrant, and Whitley Penn LLP’s
decision not to stand for reappointmet—were addressed at the hearing. (See id. at 15:3-12;
16:12-17:20; 20:8-21-12, 29:21-30:10; see also UDF IV Power Point to Nasdaq at 15-17,
Bemstein Decl., Ex. 18.)

9. UDF IV assured the hearing panel at the hearing and again in a post-hearing
submission that UDF IV and EisnerAmper LLP were confident that UDF IV would be in a
position fo file its periodic reports and become compliant by September 12, 2016, and requested
the hearing panel to extend its listing through that date. (Nasdaq Hearing Transcript at 6:11-7:7;
32:7-33-21, Bemnstein Decl., Ex. 17; UDF IV Presentation to Nasdaq at 18-19, Bernstein Decl.,
Ex. 18; UDF IV 7/13/2016 Letter to Nasdaq at 2, Bernstein Decl., Ex. 19.) The hearing panel
agreed to continue UDF IV’s listing, provided that, it became current in its filings by September
12,2016. (Nasdaq 7/25/2016 Letter to UDF, Bernstein Decl:, Ex. 20.)

10.  On August 29, 2016, UDF IV informed Nasdaq’s hearing panel that it no longer
believed the September 12, 2016 filing date was achieveable, and asked for a further extension
until October 17, 2016. (UDF IV 8/29/2016 Letter to Nasdaq at 1, Bernstein Decl., Ex. 21.)
However, UDF IV did not file its periodic reports by October 17, 2016 either, and Nasdaq
suspended trading in UDF IV’s common stock on October 19, 2016. (OIP, J11.A.2;
Respondents’ Answer, §2; UDF IV Form 8-K filed 10/18/2016, Bernstein Decl., Ex. 22.) On
May 18,2017, Nasdaq filed a Form 25 with the Commission to delist UDF IV. (OIP, JII.A.2;
Respondents’ Answer, §2; Nasdaq Form 25 filed 5/18/2017, Bemstein Decl., Ex. 23.)

11.  UDF IV’s common stock began trading on the over-the-counter markets. As of
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August 22, 2018, UDF IV’s common stock was quoted on OTC Markets Inc. under the symbol
“UDFI,” and had four market makers. (OIP, § II.A.2; Respondents’ Answer, J2.) On March 26,
2019, UDF IV’s stock was trading on the over-the-counter markets at $4.75 per share on volume
0of 61,238. (3/26/2019 OTC Printout, Bernstein Decl., Ex. 24.)

C. The District Court Enforcement Action

12.  OnJuly 3, 2018, the Commission filed a settled enforcement action against UDF
III, UDF 1V, and five company executives styled SEC v. United Development Funding I1I, LP et
al., Case 3:18-cv-01735 (N.D. Tex. Dallas Division) (“SEC v. UDF”), alleging violations of
various antifraud, reporting, books and records, and internal accounting control provisions of the
federal securities laws. (Complaint, Bernstein Decl., Ex. 25 ).

13.  The Commisssion’s Complaint alleged that UDF solicited investors by
advertising annualized returns of up to 9.75 percent as well as regular distributions. (Zd. §2.) For
almost five years, UDF did not tell investors that it lacked the monthly cashflow at times to cover
investor distcibutions in one of its older funds, UDF III. (Zd. 9 1-3, 25-34.) Instead, to pay these
distributions, the newer UDF IV fund loaned money to developers who had also borrowed
money from UDF III. (Zd. Y3, 27.) Rather than using those funds for development projects that
were underwritten by UDF IV, UDF directed the developers to use the loaned money to pay
down their older loans from UDF III. (/d.) In most of these cases, the developer never received
the borrowed funds at all, and UDF simply transferred the money between funds so that UDF III
could make distributions to its investors. (/d. 7 3, 27-28.) The Complaint also alleged that UDF

I1I failed to appropriately impair loans in violation of GAAP, and that UDF IV did not

? As noted above, the Division requests that pursuant to Rule of Practice 323, the Court take official notice of all
EDGAR and District Court filings and information referenced in this submission and/or attached to the Bemstein
Decl., including, but not limited to, Exs. 25-29 to the Bernstein Decl.
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adequately disclose the status of real property within its portfolio. (/d. Y 4-5, 35-45.).

14.  OnlJuly 31, 2018, the Court entered Final Judgments by consent against UDF III,
UDF 1V, and the company executives ordering, among other relief, that the executives pay
approximately $8.2 million in disgorgement, prejudgment interest, and civil penalties and that
the defendants be permanently enjoined from violating Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), and the disclosure, books and records, and internal
accounting control provisions of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange
Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder. (Consents and Final Judgments, Bernstein
Decl., Exs. 26-29.) Following the entry of the Final Judgments, the management of Respondents
has remained substantially unchanged. (See, e.g., Respondents’ Forms 12b-25 signed by Hollis
Greenlaw, Bernstein Decl., Exs. 13-15.)

III. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

Section 12(j) empowers the Commission to either suspend (for a period not exceeding
twelve months) or permanently revoke the registration of a class of securities if an issuer has failed
to comply with any provision of the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. There
is no dispute that Respondents have failed to comply with Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and
rules thereunder. Thus, summary disposition is warranted, and revocation, as demonstrated below,
is the appropriate remedy.

A. Standards Applicable to the Division’s Summary Disposition Motion

Rule 250(b) of the Commiission’s Rules of Practice provides that a hearing officer may
grant a motion for surnmary disposition if there is ﬁo genuine issue with regard to any material fact
and the party making the motion is entitled to summary disposition as a matter of law. 17 C.F.R. §

201.250(b); see Michael Puorro, Initial Dec. Rel. No. 253, 2004 SEC LEXIS 1348, at *3 (June 28,
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2004) (citing 17 C.F.R. § 201.250(b)). A factual dispute will therefore preclude summary

disposition only where it is both genuine and material:
By analogy to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a factual dispute
between the parties will not defeat a motion for summary disposition unless it is
both genuine and material. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-
48 (1986). Once the moving party has carried its burden, ‘its opponent must do
more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material
facts.” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586
(1986). The opposing party must set forth specific facts showing a genuine issue
for a hearing and may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of its pleadings.
At the summary disposition stage, the hearing officer’s function is not to weigh the

evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but rather to determine whether
there is a genuine issue for resolution at a hearing. See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249.

Edward Becker, Initial Dec. Rel. No. 252, 2004 SEC LEXIS 1135, at *5 (June 3, 2004). Put
another way, “[n]ot every alleged factual dispute precludes summary disposition. To prevent
summary disposition, the opposing party rr;ust present facts demonstrating a genuine issue of fact
that is material to the charged violation.” Absolute Potential, Inc., Exchange Act Rel. No. 71866,
2014 SEC LEXIS 1193, at *20-21 (April 4, 2014) (intemal citation omitted) (emphasis added).
Section 12(j) authorizes the Commission to either suspend (for a period not exceeding
twelve months) or permanently revoke the registration of a class of securities “if the Commission
finds, on the record after notice and opportunity for hearing, that the issuer of such security has
failed to comply with any provision of this title or the rules and regulations thereunder.” 15 U.S.C.
§ 781(j)- It is appropriate to grant summary disposition and revoke a registrant’s registration in a
Section 12(j) proceeding where, as here, there is no dispute that the registrant has failed to comply
with Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. See Citizens Capital Corp., Exchange Act Rel. No.
67313, 2012 SEC LEXIS 2024, at *34-35 (June 29, 2012); Cobalis Corp., Exchange Act Rel. No.
64813, 2011 WL 2644158, at *4-6 (July 6, 2011) ; Ocean Res., Inc., Initial Decision Rel. No. 365,

2008 SEC LEXIS 2851, at *2-5 (Dec. 18, 2008).
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B. The Division is Entitled to Summary Disposition, Because Respondents Have
Repeatedly Violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules Thereunder

As explained in the initial decision in St. George Metals, Inc.:

Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder require
issuers of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act to file
periodic and other reports with the Commission. Exchange Act Rule 13a-1 requires
issuers to submit annual reports, and Exchange Act Rule 13a-13 requires issuers to
submit quarterly reports. No showing of scienter is necessary to estabhsh a
violation of Section 13(a) or the rules thereunder.

St. George Metals, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 298, 2005 SEC LEXIS 2465, at *7 (Sept. 29, 2005);
see also Stansbury Holdings Corp., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 232, 2003 SEC LEXIS 1639, at *15 (July
14, 2003).

Further, Section 13(a) is the cornerstone of the Exchange Act, establishing a system of
periodically reporting core information about issuers of securities. The Commission has stated:

Failure to file periodic reports violates a central provision of the Exchange Act.

The purpose of the periodic filing requirements is to supply investors with current
and accurate financial information about an issuer so that they may make sound
decisions. Those requirements are “the primary tool[s] which Congress has
fashioned for the protection of investors from negligent, careless, and deliberate
misrepresentations in the sale of stock and securities.” Proceedings initiated under
Exchange Act Section 12(j) are an important remedy to address the problem of
publicly traded companies that are delinquent in the filing of their Exchange Act
reports, and thereby deprive investors of accurate, complete, and timely information
upon which to make informed investment decisions.

Gateway Int’l Holdings, Inc., Exchange Act Rel. No. 53907,2006 SEC LEXIS 1288, at *26 (May
31, 2006) (quoting SEC v. Beisinger Indus. Corp., 552 F.2d 15, 18 (1st Cir. 1977)).

There is no genuine issue with regard to any material fact as to Respondents’ violations of
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 13a-1 and 13a-13 thereunder. It is undisputed that
Respondents are issuers of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, and
that Respondents have failed to file periodic reports for approximately three years. (SOF ] 1-4.)
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Thus, the Division is entitled to summary disposition as a matter of law. See Citizens Capital
Corp., 2012 SEC LEXIS 2024 at *34-35 (summary disposition appropriate in Section 12(j) action
where, as here, there was no dispute respondent had failed to file periodic reports).8

C. Revocation is the Appropriate Sanction for Respondents’ Serial Violations of the
Exchange Act

Section 12(j) of the Exchange Act provides that the Commission may suspend or revoke
the registration of a class of an issuer’s securities “as it deems necessary or appropriate for the
protection of investors.” 15 U.S.C. § 781(j). The Commission’s determination of which sanction is
appropriate “turns on the effect on the investing public, including both current and prospective
investors, of the issuer’s violations, on the one hand, and the Section 12(j) sanctions on the other
hand.” Gateway, 2006 SEC LEXIS 1288, at *19-20.

In making this determination, the Commission has said it will consider, among other
things: (1) the seriousness of the issuer’s violations; (2) the isolated or recurrent nature of the
violations; (3) the degree of culpability involved; (4) the extent of the issuer’s efforts to remedy its
past violations and ensure future compliance; and (5) the credibility of the issuer’s assurances
against future violations. Id. Further, although no one factor is dispositive, the Corﬁmission has
stated that a ““recurrent failure to file periodic reports’ is ‘so serious that only a strongly
compelling showing with respect to the other factors we consider would justify a lesser sanction
than revocation.’” Absolute Potential, Inc., 2014 SEC LEXIS 1193, at *24 (quoting Impax Labs.,

Inc., Exchange Act Rel. No. 57864, 2008 SEC LEXIS 1197, at *27 (May 23, 2008) ) (emphasis

8 See also Chemfix Techs, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 378, 2009 SEC LEXIS 2056, at *23 (May 15, 2009) (same);
California Serv. Stations, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 368, 2009 SEC LEXIS 85, at *15 (Jan. 16, 2009) (same); Ocean
Res, Inc.,2008 SEC LEXIS 2851, at *17 (same); Wall Street Deli, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 361, 2008 SEC LEXIS
3153, at *4-13 (Nov. 14, 2008); Bilogic, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 322,2006 SEC LEXIS 2596, at *12 (Nov. 9,
2006) . (same); Investco, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 240, 2003 SEC LEXIS 2792, at *7 (Nov. 24, 2003) (same); Nano
World Projects Corp., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 228, 2003 SEC LEXIS 3146, at *3 (May 20, 2003) (same).
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added). An analysis of the Gateway factors confirms that revocation of Respondents’ securities is
the appropriate remedy.

1. Respondents’ violations are serious and recurrent

Given the central importance of the Exchange Act’s periodic reporting requirements, there
is no question that Respondents’ violations of Section 13(a) and the rules thereunder are extremely
serious. Further, these violations are recurrent and continuing; they are not isolated in nature.
Respondents have failed to file any periodic reports since filing Forms 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2015, almost three-and-a-half-years ago. (SOF at §§1-4.) As of the date of this
motion, each Respondent has failed to file twelve or more required periodic reports. (Id.)

The Commission and its Administrative Law Judges have repeatedly found violations of
this nature and of the same or shorter duration to be both serious and recurrent. See, e.g., Impax
Labs., Inc., 2008 SEC LEXIS 1197 at *24-26 (Commission finding failure to file eight required
periodic reports over more than four years was serious and recurring); Eagletech Commc 'ns, Inc.,
Exchange Act Rel. No. 54095, 2006 SEC LEXIS 1534, at *4 (July 5, 2006) (Commission finding
failure to file multiple periodic reports over more than three years was serious and recurring);
Gateway, 2006 SEC LEXIS 1288, at *21 (Commission finding failure to file seven periodic reports
over eighteen months was serious, egregious, and recurrent); Digital Brana Media & Mhktg. Grp.,
Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 1226, 2017 SEC LEXIS 3620, at*23-25 (November 16, 2017) (failure to
file two annual reports and six quarterly reports over almost two years was serious and recurrent);
Freedom Golf Corp., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 227, 2003 SEC LEXIS 1178, at *5 (May 15, 2003)

(failure to file one annual report and one quarterly report over less than a year was recurrent and

egregious).
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2. Respondents’ culpability supports revocation

Respondents’ long-standing and serious violations also establish a high degree of
culpability. In Gafteway, the Commission found that the delinquent issuer “evidenced a high
degree of culpability,” because it “knew of its reporting obligations, yet failed to file” its periodic
reports. Gateway, 2006 SEC LEXIS 1288, at *21; see also Digital Brand Media & Mktg. Grp.,
Inc., 2017 SEC LEXIS 3620, at*23-25 (“Because [respondent] knew of its reporting obligations
and nevertheless failed to file periodic reports, it has shown more than sufficient culpability to
support revocation”). Similarly, it is undisputed that Respondents knew of their reporting
obligations yet each failed to file numerous periodic reports. (SOF q 5; Answer, p. 2-8.)°

Respondents’ executives were also ordered to pay $8.2 million in disgorgement,
prejudgment interest, and civil penalties, and UDF III, UDF IV, and the executives have been
permanently enjoined from violating Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act and Sections
13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13
thereunder. Nonetheless, Respondents have continued to violate Section 13(a) of the Exchangé
Act by not filing any periodic reports in the reporting periods following the entry of the District
Court final judgments. Gateway, 2006 SEC LEXIS 1288, at *24, n.30 (Commission may consider
“other matters that fall outside of the OIP in assessing appropriate sanctions”).

3. Respondents have not made sufficient efforts to remedy their past
violations or provided credible assurance against future violations

The Commission has made it clear that for a delinquent issuer to demonstrate sufficient
efforts toward remedying filing delinquencies, it must, at a minimum, file all of its past-due

reports, and those filings must not contain any material deficiencies. See Nature’s Sunshine

? Further, as discussed in more detail at Section IIL.D below, Respondents’ attempts to blame third parties for their
failure to file periodic reports does not absolve them of culpability under the Gateway factors.
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Prods., Inc., Exchange Act Rel. No. 59268, 2009 SEC LEXIS 81, at ¥*15-17 (Jan. 21, 2009);
California Serv. Stations, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel. No. 368, 2009 SEC LEXIS 85 at *13-15.
Respondents have not remedied their past violations by filing any of their delinquent periodic
reports, and they have continued to violate the Exchange Act by failing to file periodic reports
since the Commission instituted the OIP more than six months ago. To whatever extent
Respondents purport to have made efforts toward remedying their past violations, the investing
public still does not have access to past and current audited financial information.

Respondents have also not provided, and cannot provide, credible assurance against future
violations.!® For more than two-and-a-half years, Respondents have continued to recite in their
Forms 12b-25 that their outside auditor’s audit is ongping and that there can be no assurance as to
when Respondents will be able to file periodic reports. (SOF at {5). In their Answer,
Respondents acknowledged that they still do not lmpw when, if ever, UDF III will satisfy its
reporting requirements, and instead told the Commission that Respondents will “work to bring
UDF III into current compliance at their earliest opportunity.” (Respondents’ Answer, § 35).

Respondents’ answer included an estimate of June 30, 2019 for bringing UDF IV and UDF
V into current compliance. (Respondents’ Answer, §34). Setting aside that this would mean three
more months of delinquent reporting, Respondents have provided no support for what amounts to a
guesstimate based on conversations with its auditors. (/d.) Further, Respondents conceded they
premised the June 30, 2019 estimate on UDF IV and UDF V filing an omnibus 2017 Form 10-K to
cover all of their delinquent annual and quarterly reporting for 2015 through 2017. (Id.) However,

such an omnibus filing would not bring UDF IV and UDF V into current compliance under Section

1% The likelihood of future violations can be inferred from a single past violation, including the violation that led to the
enforcement action. See KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Rel. No. 44050, 2001 SEC LEXIS 422, at *¥21-22
(March 8, 2001) .
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13(a). See In the Matter of Advanced Life Sciences Holdings, Inc. Exchange Act Rel. No. 81253,
2017 WL 3214455, at *4 (July 28, 2017); Citizens Capital Corp., 2012 SEC LEXIS 2024, at *26.

Moreover, over a period of several years, Respondents have repeatedly underestimated
when they will file their periodic reports. For example, UDF IV repeatedly failed to meet their
own estimated filing deadlines it provided to NASDAQ in 2016—and more than two-and-a-half
years later, it still has not made any filings. (SOF at §{/ 7-10.) This history severely undermines
the credibility of Respondents’ current estimate. See Impax Labs., Inc., 2008 SEC LEXIS 1197 at
*30 (respondent’s failure to meet its promise to Nasdagq to file delinquent reports undermined its
assurances of future performance); Nature's Sunshine Prods., Inc., 2009 SEC LEXIS 81, at *23-24
(discounting assurances of respondent who had previously underestimated the time it needed to
become compliant).!! In sum, Respondents have not remedied any of their past violations, have
provided no assurances of future compliance by UDF III, and have provided no acceptable or
credible assurances of future compliance by UDF IV or UDF V.

Finally, even if Respondents were able to become current in their filings now, the public
interest would still require revocation to support the purpose of the reporting requirements and to
deter other issuers that might become delinquent. In fact, the Commission has repeatedly found
revocation appropriate in cases where registrants fail to comply with their filing requirements and
then make filings during the pendency of a Commission administrative proceeding. See Absolute
Potential, Inc.,2014 SEC LEXIS 1193, at *6-8 (revoking respondent’s registration despite
respondent having filed twenty past-due reports and becoming current in its filings while action

was pending); see also Nature’s Sunshine Prods., Inc., 2009 SEC LEXIS 81, at *34.

'! The credibility of the June 30, 2019 estimate for UDF IV and UDF V is further undermined by the fact that the
Forms 12b-25 that UDF IV and UDF V filed after filing their Answer again state that there can be no assurance of
when UDF IV and UDF V will be able to file their periodic reports. (Bernstein Decl. at Exs. 14-15.)
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D. Respondents’ Purported “Affirmative Defense” Does Not Support A Lesser Sanction
than Revocation

Respondents, in what they label as an “affirmative defense” in their Answer, argue that
actions by third parties made it impossible for them to file their required reports. (Respondents’
Answer, p. 2.) More specifically, Respondents claim that their outside auditors resigned in
November 2015, and that it took them until June 2016 to engage new auditors. (Zd., Y 10, 18).
According to Respondents, it was difficult to retain new auditors, because Hayman was allegedly
engaged in a short-and-distort campaign against them. (/d., Y 12-18.) Respondents contend that
after it engaged its new auditors, Hayman impeded their audit work by providing allegedly false
submissions. (/d., §19.) Respondents also claim that their auditors would not sign off on the
audits if the Commission investigation that resulted in the SEC v. UDF District Court enforcement
action included scienter fraud charges. (/d., ] 26, 28.)

Solely for purposes of this Motion, the Division accepts the factual allegations in
Respondents’ Answer.'? Yet, even if Respondents’ allegations are accepted as true, Respondents
cannot make a case for a lesser sanction than revocation, because the allegations (1) do not
demonstrate a genuine issue of fact that is material to the charged violations and (2) in any event

do not support Respondents’ claim that they have been prevented for the last three years from

meeting their obligations under Section 13(a).

12 The Division disputes Respondents’ characterizations of the facts—namely, that the facts alleged, even if true,
prevented Respondents from fulfilling their Exchange Act reporting obligations for three years. The Division also
reserves the right to contest Respondents’ factual allegations for other purposes, including at a hearing of this matter.
The Division also expressly disputes the factual allegations in the Answer to the extent they contradict the allegations
in the SEC v. UDF Complaint.
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1. Respondents’ allegations are not material to the charged violations

Respondents’ claims of third-party interference are only relevant if they raise a genuine
issue of fact that is material to the charged reporting violations. Absolute Potential, Inc.,2014 SEC
LEXIS 1193, at *20-21. They do not.

The Commission’s decision in Eagletech Commc 'ns, Inc., 2006 SEC LEXIS 1534,
illustrates. There, the respondent did not dispute that it had failed to file its periodic reports, but,
like Respondents in this proceeding, asserted an “affirmative defense” that it was prevented from
doing so by the actions of third party market manipulators (e.g., short sellers) that had damaged the
company and led to the resignation of the company’s auditors. Eagletech Commc ’'ns, Inc., 2006
SEC LEXIS 1534, at *3. The Commission was not swayed by this argument and revoked the
respondent’s securities. /d. at ¥16. The Commission found that even if the facts were accepted as
respondent represented them to be, the alleged third-party wrongdoing did not alter the only matter
relevant to the proceeding—the fact that respondent had failed to file its periodic rei:orts and was
presently not able to cure the deficiencies:

Eagletech asserts as an affirmative defense that it has been the victim of criminal

activity by third parties that has made Eagletech financially unable to comply with

its filing obligations. Even if the facts are as Eagletech represents them to be,

however, the alleged criminal activity does not alter the fact of Eagletech’s failure

to file its quarterly and annual reports or its present inability to cure these
deficiencies, the only matters relevant to this proceeding.

Id. at *6. Asin Eagletech Commc 'ns, Inc., Respondents’ claim that they have encountered trouble
with short sellers and their auditors, even if accepted as true for purposes of this Motion, does not
change or excuse the relevant facts—i.e., that Respondents have not filed periodic reports for three

years and have been unable to cure the deficiencies."?

1 Eagletech Commc ns, Inc. is not an isolated case, as the Commission has repeatedly rejected respondents’ efforts
to avoid revocation by blaming third parties or business difficulties. See, e.g., In the Matter of Advanced Life

In the Matter of United Development Funding III, LP et al. Page 16
Division of Enforcement’s Motion for Summary Disposition and
Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support



2. Respondents’ allegations do not justify their continued delinquency

While the Division accepts Respondents’ factual allegations solely for purposes of this
Motion, the Division disputes Respondents’ characterizations of those allegations—including, that
the alleged “affirmative defense” facts have made it “impossible” for Respondents to meet their
periodic reporting obligations for three years and counting.

More specifically, Respondents’ prior auditors resigned in the fall of 2015, and
Respondents engaged their current auditors in June 2016. (Respondents’ Answer, §]13, 18.)
Respondents cannot credibly claim that a change in auditors that occurred approximately three
years ago has prevented them from filing any of their delinquent reports as of the date of this
Motion.

Respondents claim that Hayman initiated a “short and distort” campaign against them in
the fall of 2015 that continued into 2016. (/d., f{ 13-19.) Again, Respondents cannot credibly
claim that information a short seller disseminated approximately three years ago has prevented
them from filing any of their delinquent reports as of the date of this Motion. Indeed, UDF IV told
a Nasdagq listing qualifications hearing panel more than two-and-a-half years ago in June 2016 that
its audit committee had substantially completed its investigation of the Hayma'n allegations, that it
had engaged new auditors and apprised them of the situation, and that it would be in a position to

file its delinquent reports in the coming weeks. (SOF Y 7-10.) It still has not done so.

Sciences Holdings, Inc. 2017 WL 3214455, at *3-4 (finding revocation at summary disposition was appropriate
because respondent’s business and auditor difficulties did not excuse its failure to file periodic reports); Impax
Labs., Inc., 2008 SEC LEXIS 1197 at *34 (rejecting respondents argument that registration should not be revoked,
because its outside auditors failed to act quickly enough to address a revenue recognition policy); Cobalis Corp.,
2011 WL 2644158, at *5-6 (actions of shareholder in forcing involuntary bankruptcy proceeding and forcing
issuance of stock did not excuse Exchange Act violations); Cf. China MediaExpress Holdings, Inc., Initial Dec. Rel.
No. 464, 2012 WL 2884859, at *1, 6 (July 16, 2012) (ALJ granting summary disposition despite claims that an
alleged short selling scheme, the resignation of the company auditors, and an ongoing internal investigation
prevented respondent from filing its periodic reports).
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Respondents also contend that their auditors would not complete the audit while the staff
considered recommending scienter-based fraud charges in the underlying investigation that
resulted in the SEC v. UDF enforcement action. At the outset, a Commission investigation does
not suspend an issuer’s Section 13(a) obligations, and issuérs routinely fulfil their reporting
obligations during Commission investigations, including investigations that could result in scienter
fraud charges. In any event, Respondents concede that any purported impediment to the auditor’s
work disappeared based on indications of a non-scienter settlement almost two years ago in June
2017 (Respondents’ Answer, § 24), and the Commission filed the settled Complaint approximately
nine months ago in July 2018 (SOF § 12.) Thus, even accepting Respondents’ flawed premise,
Respondents should have been able to bring their periodic filings current last surnmer or earlier.

Further, Respondents have not demonstrated, and cannot demoﬁstrate, why remaining
registered but not filing any periodic reports for over three years is a justified response to the
difficulties they claim they encountered. Iftheir current auditors were not willing to issue an
unqualified opinion in light of the circuinstances at the company, Respondents had other options.
If the problems at Respondents were truly so acute that it was actually impossible for Respondents
to make any periodic filings for a prolonged period of time as Respondents’ claim, then
Respondents could have sought to deregister their securities and then register again if and when the
storm passed. Simply put, the law does not authorize an issuer to throw up its hands and
continually violate Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

E. No “Strongly Compelling Showing” Justifies A Lesser Sanction Than Revocation

The above-discussed Gateway factors establish that revocation is the appropriate remedy
for Respondents’ long-standing and continuing violations of the Exchange Act’s periodic filings

requirements. These violations are not outweighed by “a strongly compelling showing with
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respect to the other factors™ which “would justify a lesser sanction than revocation.” Impax Labs.,
Inc.,2008 SEC LEXIS 1197, at *27.

Revocation will not be overly harmful to Respondents’ business operations, finances, or
shareholders, and it will not cause Respondents to cease being the kind of companies they currently
are. Rather, revocation will ensure that until Respondents become current and compliant, their
shares cannot trade publicly (but may be traded privately). See Eagletech Commc 'ns, Inc., 2006
SEC LEXIS 1534, at *9 (revocation would lessen, but not eliminate, shareholders’ ability to
transfer their securities).'* Revocation will not only protect current and future investors, who lack
the necessary information about the issuer because of its failure to make required Exchange Act
filings, it will also deter other similar companies from failing in their reporting obligations.

If Respondents decide to seek registration after their securities are deregistered, a new
registration process will place all investors on an even playing field. All current investors will still
own the same amount of shares that they did before registration, but their shares will no longer be
devalued due to the issuers’ delinquent statuses. All investors, current and future alike, will also
benefit from the legitimacy, reliability, and transparency of a company in compliance. The time-
out will protect the status quo, and will give Respondents the opportunity to come into full
compliance, to thoroughly work thrpugh all of their remaining issues with their consultants,
auditors, and management, and to complete their financial statements in complianf:e with

applicable rules and regulations.

14 UDF 1V is the only Respondent whose shares trade publicly in any event.

I